# IN THE SUPREME COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2007-CA-01797		
GREEN REALTY MANAGEMENT CORPORATION	APPELLANT	
vs.		
MISSISSIPPI TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION	APPELLEE	
APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRENADA COUNTY	, MISSISSIPPI	
APPELLANT'S BRIEF		
ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED (Miss.R.App.Pro. 34(t	o))	

T.H. FREELAND, IV

JOYCE FREELAND

1013 JACKSON AVE P.O. Box 269 OXFORD, MS 38655 (662) 234-3414 ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

#### I. Certificate of Interested Persons

Green Realty Management Corporation vs. Mississippi Transportation Commission

#### Cause No. 2007-CA-01797

IV.	Statement of Issues
v.	Oral Argument Requested2
VI.	Statement of the Case2
VI	Statement of Facts
VI	I. Summary of the Argument
IX.	Argument
1.	The Green Affidavit establishes for purposes of MTC's Motion for Summary Judgment (a) that MTC's agents, whether negligently or intentionally, provided a plat which misrepresented the nature of the road project and misled Mr. Green concerning foreseeable damages on neighboring tracts owned by GRM; and (b) that MTC's agents omitted, suppressed, or concealed a material fact which they were required to disclose, resulting in fraud in the purchase transaction9
2.	The standard offer forms as used (or misused) by MTC in this situation further misrepresented the nature of the road project and whether damages to neighboring, improved tracts owned by GRM were foreseeable
3.	Since there are genuine issues of material fact concerning whether the releases were obtained by negligent or intentional misrepresentations by MTC's agents, the releases may be void or otherwise ineffective, and summary judgment should not have been granted.

4.	King v. Mississippi Transportation Commission is not controlling here, because King (a) dealt with res judicata principles that are not applicable here; and
	(b) did not involve any negligent or fraudulent misrepresentations by MTC that affected the "foreseeability" of damages to adjoining tracts21
5.	Under the well-recognized standard for granting or denying a summary
	judgment, the trial court was required to accept as true all evidence in the Green Affidavit concerning the misleading nature of the plat and offer documentation
	used by MTC. As a result, the trial court erred in holding that there were "no
	facts in the record" concerning negligent or intentional misrepresentation by
	MTC's agents and, as a result, erred in granting summary judgment to MTC24
X.	Conclusion28
Ce:	rtificate of Service29

# III. Table of Authorities

Cases
<b>Brown v. Ohman</b> , 42 So.2d 209 (Miss. 1949), suggestion of error overruled, 43 So.2d 727 (1949)
Franklin v. Lovett Equipment Co., 420 So.2d 1370 (Miss. 1982)
Glover v. Jackson State University, 968 So.2d 1267 (Miss. 2007), No. 2005-CA-02328-5 (Dec. 6, 2007)
H.D. Sojourner & Co. v. Joseph, 186 Miss. 755, 191 So. 418 (Miss. 1939)
<u>Holman v. Howard Wilson Chrysler Jeep Inc.</u> , 972 So.2d 564 (Miss. 2008)(No. 2005-ct-01154 Jan. 10, 2008)
King v. Mississippi Transportation Commission, 609 So.2d 1251 (Miss. 1992)
Levens v. Campbell, 733 So.2d 753 (Miss. 1999), No. 97-CA-01508-SCT
Memphis Hardwood Lumber Co. v. Daniel, 771 So.2d 924 (Miss. 2000) 17, 21
Mink v. Andrew Jackson Cas. Ins. Co., 537 So. 2d 431 (Miss. 1988)
Mississippi Rd, Supply Co. Inc. v. Zurich-American Ins. Co., 501 So. 2d 412 (Miss. 1987)
<u>Nash Mississippi Valley Motor Co. v. Childress</u> , 156 Miss. 157, 125 So. 708 (1930)
Newell v. Hinton, 556 So.2d 1037 (Miss. 1990)
Reed v. Charping, 207 Miss. 1, 41 So.2d 11 (Miss. 1949)
Sarphie v. Mississippi Transportation Commission, 275 So.2d 381 (Miss. 1973) 18
Short v. Columbus Rubber & Gasket Co., 535 So.2d 61, 63 (Miss. 1988)
Simmons v. Thompson Mach. of Mississippi, 631 So.2d 798, 801 (Miss. 1994) 24, 27
<u>Smith v. Sneed</u> , 638 So.2d 1252 (Miss. 1994)
Swett v. Mississippi State Highway Commission, 193 So.2d 596 (Miss. 1967)
Webb v. Jackson, 583 So. 2d 946, 949 (Miss. 1991)
Statutes and Constitutions         Miss. Code Ann. § 11-27-7 (1972)       18         Miss. Code Ann. § 43-37-3(c) (1972)       18         Miss. Const. art. 3, § 17 (1890)       2
Restatements and Treatises  Restatement (Second) of Torte (551 (1977)

#### IV. Statement of Issues

- 1. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment to the Mississippi Transportation Commission (hereinafter, MTC), since genuine issues of material fact exist concerning whether MTC's agents (a) provided a plat to John Green of Green Realty Management (hereinafter, GRM ¹) which misrepresented the nature and foreseeable damages of the road project in question and (b) omitted, suppressed or failed to disclose material facts that resulted in a fraud in the purchase transaction?
- 2. Did the standard forms for "fair market value" offers as completed and used by MTC in this situation also contain misrepresentations concerning the nature and foreseeable damages of the road project in question?
- 3. Did the trial court err in basing its grant of summary judgment on release provisions in the warranty deeds used by MTC, since any negligent or intentional misrepresentations by MTC in obtaining those releases would render them void?
- 4. Did the trial court err in applying King v. Mississippi Transportation Comm'n, 609 So.2d 1251 (Miss. 1992), since (a) King dealt with a variant of res judicata that is inapplicable here; and (b) it was undisputed in King that the construction was completed as shown on all the MTC plans available to the property owners?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Both the Mississippi Transportation Commission (MTC) and its subsidiary, the Mississippi Department of Transportation (MDOT) were involved in the negotiations for the purchase of a small part of the property belonging to Green Realty Management Corporation (GRM) and its affiliate, West Grenada Industrial Park (WGIP). For convenience, both entities MDOT and MTC are referred to, collectively, as "MTC" and the Green family corporations, GRM and WGIP, are referred to, collectively, as "GRM" in this brief.

5. Did the trial court, which noted that "there were no facts in the record" concerning negligent or intentional mispresentation by MTC's agents, despite an affidavit to the contrary supplied by the non-moving party, err in applying the standard for summary judgment under Rule 56 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure?

## V. Oral Argument Requested

This appeal of an inverse condemnation suit is a case of first impression in that it deals with the effect of MTC's providing a misleading plat and using statutorily deficient and misleading offer documents in negotiating a purchase of two small tracts of undeveloped property for a road-widening project. MTC's actual plans for the project involved a significant diversion of Howard Creek, endangering valuable improvements on adjoining tracts without compensation. Oral argument should assist the reviewing court in dealing with these issues.

#### VI. Statement of the Case

The inverse condemnation action was filed pursuant to Article Three Section Seventeen of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890 by Appellant GRM. The action has been pending since June 19, 2006, in the Circuit Court of Grenada County, Mississippi after being transferred to that court from the Chancery Court of Grenada County on a motion by MTC. A motion to amend the Complaint was filed by GRM to specifically address negligent or fraudulent misrepresentations by MTC in negotiating the purchase and obtaining warranty deeds from GRM.<sup>2</sup>

The trial court took the motion to amend under advisement but did not rule on it prior to considering MTC's motion for summary judgment. The motion to amend, which the trial court

John Green, President of the grantors of the two deeds involved, made and filed an affidavit verifying under oath all of GRM's factual allegations in the proposed amendment.

See Affidavit of John Green, RE Tab 3, R 294<sup>3</sup> (hereinafter the "Green Affidavit").

MTC answered GRM's complaint asserting multiple defenses, including that releases in the two deeds signed by GRM (RE Tab 6, R 234, and RE Tab 7, R 229) barred GRM's claim. Counsel for MTC also asserted in argument that MTC could not be sued for fraud, because its employees who negotiated the purchase of the tracts involved in this case were not authorized to commit fraud. RE Tab 8, Tr 11. There is no basis for either contention.

MTC also asserted that it would adequately deal with all water that would flow through a 32 by 6 foot box culvert it was constructing on the property it had acquired from GRM (but which was not shown on the plat provided to Mr. Green during negotiations of the purchase). MTC has not done so. See Green Affidavit, RE Tab 3, R 294.

MTC filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on September 11, 2006, asserting that that the deeds transferring Tracts H and N to MTC contained releases conceding any right GRM might have had for further compensation. In support of its motion, MTC denied the existence of any genuine issue of material fact.

GRM responded to MTC's Motion for Summary Judgment with a brief supported by copies of the various documents involved in the negotiated purchase (the offers, warranty deeds, and a detail of the plat shown to John Green) and supported by the Green Affidavit.

apparently overlooked, should have been sustained per Rule 15 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The record of the proceedings below will be referred to as "R \_\_\_\_." The transcript of the two hearings will be referred to as "Tr \_\_\_.". The Record Excerpts will be referred to as "RE Tab \_\_.".

At a March 13, 2007, hearing on MTC's Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court raised the issue of whether MTC's plans and specifications were available to GRM at MTC's Batesville and Jackson offices prior to GRM's execution of the deeds. RE Tab 8, Tr 34. The court was of the opinion that John Green had a duty to make a further investigation to inspect the actual plans before signing the deeds. The Trial Court asked for briefs on that issue and its effect on GRM's inverse condemnation suit. RE Tab 8, Tr 34.

MTC filed a "supplemental" motion for summary judgment on May 11, 2007, asserting that MTC's plans for the modification of the Howard Creek drainage system were on file and available for inspection by the public at Batesville, Mississippi, prior to the execution of the deeds by GRM to MTC. GRM responded to MTC's "supplemental" motion for summary judgment, again pointing out genuine issues of disputed fact based on matters in the Green Affidavit and MTC's response to the disputed and undisputed issues of fact earlier identified by GRM.

On September 6, 2007, the trial court filed its opinion granting MTC a summary judgment "as a matter of law." RE Tab 12, R 469.

The trial court based its decision primarily on the fact that the plans and specifications for the modification of the discharge of the waters of Howard Creek were available for inspection by John Green at the MTC offices at Batesville and Jackson, Mississippi, at all times prior to the execution of the deeds involved herein.

The trial court noted in its opinion that "Green claims that MTC either fraudulently or negligently misrepresented or omitted facts to induce GRM to execute the deeds" but found that there were "no facts in the record" of fraud in fact or fraud in law and "no

proof' of fraudulent misrepresentation. See Trial Court's Opinion, RE Tab 12 at 2, 4-5, R 469, 471, 472-473.

The trial court relied heavily in its opinion on the decision of the Mississippi Supreme Court in King v. Mississippi Transportation Comm'n, 609 So.2d 1251 (Miss. 1992), although the use of misleading documents or fraudulent conduct by MTC were not factors in King.

GRM filed a timely Notice of Appeal and has fully complied with the requirements of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure for this appeal.

#### VII. Statement of Facts

John Green, the President of GRM, has been the owner and manager of a heavy construction company most of his adult life. See Green Affidavit 1, RE Tab 3, R294. He has bid on and supervised the construction of projects involving highways, box culverts, levees, dams, land improvements, and large drainage projects and is familiar with designs concerning the type of drainage facilities at issue here. <u>Id</u>.

During the period from 2001 through 2003, GRM owned several tracts of property in an industrial park in Grenada located near a highway that MTC had plans to widen. Two of the tracts owned by GRM, Tracts H and N, were small and undeveloped; Tract H was 0.39 acres and Tract N was 0.192 acres.

GRM owned other much larger tracts near Tract H and Tract N at a further distance from the highway that included substantial improvements, including industrial buildings and

GRM's offices. Four of the seven buildings on the adjoining property owned by GRM are under long-term leases which produce an annual income of more than \$54,000.4

In 2003, MTC negotiated the purchase of the two small tracts of undeveloped land from GRM, Tracts H and N, for the road widening project, offering and paying GRM \$8,595 as the "fair market value" of Tract H and \$5,775 as the "fair market value" of Tract N.5

During the negotiations, MTC showed a plat or map to Mr. Green that misleadingly indicated that an existing 48-inch culvert for Howard Creek would remain in place. See Green Affidavit ¶¶ 8-10, RE Tab 3, R 294, 296-297. During the negotiations, MTC also presented its "fair market value" offers for Tracts H and N to Mr. Green on forms which had been completed in a way that misleadingly indicated that no damages other than the "land value" of Tracts H and N, and, in particular, no damage to any "improvements" were expected in connection with the road widening project. See "Fair Market Value" Offers, RE Tabs 4 and 5, R 280 and 285.

The purchases of Tracts H and N were completed using a form of warranty deed that included release language in which GRM as grantor was required to acknowledge and agree as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> GRM has long-term leases for four of the buildings with substantial tenants, including RSC, Bowater Paper Company, Action Motorcycles, and Motion Industries. These leases produce an annual net income of \$54,590.00. Green Affidavit ¶19, RE Tab 3, R 294, 299-300.

There was some confusion at the hearings on MTC's Motion for Summary Judgment concerning whether the deeds in question here were executed in settlement of eminent domain actions filed by MTC for Tracts H and N. As pointed out by Mr. Green at the second hearing, MTC's counsel was apparently confusing the purchase of these tracts with another tract owned by MTC approximately a mile away for which a condemnation suit was filed. On the record below, there is no evidence that any eminent domain action or other litigation had been filed in connection with Tracts H or N and the damage to adjoining properties prior to the filing of the inverse condemnation suit by GRM; Mr Green confirmed otherwise at the second hearing. See RE Tab 6, Tr. 60.

[T]he consideration herein named is in full, complete and final payment and settlement of any claims or demands for damage accrued, accruing, or to accrue to the grantors herein . . . for or on account of the construction of the proposed highway, change of grade, water damage, and/or any other damage, right or claim whatsoever.

See Warranty Deeds for Tracts H and N, RE Tabs 6 and 7, R 234 and 229.

As the road-widening project began, Mr. Green noticed significant work near Howard Creek that was inconsistent with the plat or map shown to him by MTC prior to the purchase. See Green Affidavit ¶¶ 9 and11, RE Tab 3, R 294, 297-298. MTC, in fact, had long-standing plans to replace the existing 48-inch culvert with a 32 by 6 foot culvert that would divert Howard Creek, increasing the drainage from the creek toward GRM's remaining property from 7% to 44%, increasing water flow by 733%, and, endangering four or five of the seven buildings on the adjoining, improved property owned by GRM. See MTC Hydrology Analysis and Plans for New Bridge and Box Culvert, RE Tabs 9-11, R 292, 290, and 470. See also Green Affidavit ¶¶ 13-17, RE Tab 3, R 294, 298-299.

In completing the project, MTC left a substantial wall of dirt at the end of the new box culvert and did nothing to increase the size of the existing ditch beyond that point.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> According to the interoffice memo on hydrology issues subsequently provided to John Green by MTC, RE Tab 9, R292, MTC had planned to replace the existing box culvert at station 26 + 584 feet then carrying the main flow of Howard Creek with a bridge and to place a "relief box at Station 26 + 296" which was then the location of the existing 48-inch pipe.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> According to the hydrology analysis prepared for MTC, exhibit 10 to GRM's response to the MTC Summary Judgment motion RE Tab 11, R260 and their analysis RE Tab 24, R374, copies of which were provided to John Green by MTC's in-house counsel after Mr. Green learned of the construction of the 32 by 6 foot box culvert, the previously existing 48 inch pipe at station 26 + 296 had a cross sectional area of 12.56 square feet which allows for a maximum flow of water or a discharge capacity of 1.7 cubic meters per second. Based on the discharge capacity of the 32 by 6 foot box culvert, the annual rainfall in Grenada County, and its effect on Howard Creek, the 32 by 6 foot box culvert at station 26 + 584 feet will carry 44% of the water of the Howard Creek drainage area at its full capacity while the 48" pipe carried only 7% of the water of the Howard Creek drainage area at its full capacity. Green Affidavit ¶ 13, RE Tab 15, R 294, 298.

See Green Affidavit ¶¶ 20-22, RE Tab 3, R 294, 300. Representatives of MTC told John Green that nothing whatsoever would be done or was planned to be done by MTC to properly drain the additional volume of water, which would be discharged from the new box culvert into the existing ditch and then would have run into the middle of GRM's remaining 40 acres, but for the extensive mitigation efforts undertaken by GRM. <u>Id</u>.

In order to remedy or reduce the inevitability of flooding of the adjoining GRM property, the construction of a drainage ditch of sufficient size to carry and control the diverted surface water was necessary. GRM has been forced to construct such a ditch at great expense, and has done so. See Green Affidavit ¶ 23, RE Tab 3, R 294, 300.

# VIII. Summary of the Argument

The trial court granted summary judgment based on MTC's contention that there were no disputed issues of material fact as to whether the "release clauses" contained in the two warranty deeds barred recovery by GRM for damage to its adjoining tracts.

The trial court's opinion granting summary judgment to MTC also assumed that GRM's suit was barred under <u>King v. Mississippi Transportation Comm'n</u>, 609 So.2d 1251 (Miss. 1992), if plans and specifications for the new culvert and bridge were "available" to GRM in Batesville or Jackson, Mississippi, at the time the conveyances occurred.

Because of the negligent or fraudulent misrepresentations made to GRM by MTC concerning its true intentions, there are genuine issues of disputed fact concerning (1) whether the releases are effective to bar GRM's suit; and (2) whether the <u>King</u> case is controlling here.

Under the well-established standard for summary judgment motions under Rule 56, all evidence in affidavits submitted by the non-moving party must be taken as true. In the

Green Affidavit, John Green clearly describes MTC's providing a plat or map to him during the negotiations that falsely indicated that the 48-inch culvert on Howard Creek would not be changed. The "fair market value" offers as completed and used by MTC (which were also in evidence before the court) were also misleading concerning foreseeable damages to improvements on adjoining tracts. As a result, it is clear that there are disputed issues of material fact concerning whether MTC negligently or fraudulently misrepresented its intentions to GRM.

(1,1,2,3) , and the degree of the content of the content of (1,2,3)

Since disputed issues of material fact exist, summary judgment should not have been granted to MTC in this case.

## IX. Argument

1. The Green Affidavit establishes for purposes of MTC's Motion for Summary Judgment (a) that MTC's agents, whether negligently or intentionally, provided a plat which misrepresented the nature of the road project and misled Mr. Green concerning foreseeable damages on neighboring tracts owned by GRM; and (b) that MTC's agents omitted, suppressed, or concealed a material fact which they were required to disclose, resulting in fraud in the purchase transaction.

The trial court granted summary judgment on the theory that the releases signed by John Green are not subject to defenses of intentional or negligent misrepresentation.

Green's sworn affidavit sets forth that MTC's agents provided a plat to John Green that either negligently or intentionally misrepresented the nature of the road project. The Green Affidavit also establishes that, having been misled as to the nature of the project, Mr. Green was also misled about the foreseeable damages to neighboring tracts owned by his company.

MTC took the position in the court below that it could not be liable for the misconduct of its agents. MTC imposed on GRM either a negligent misrepresentation (fraud in law) or a deliberate misrepresentation (fraud in fact) in its negotiations with John

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