IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

	No. 2007-CA-01797	ę
GREEN REALTY N	MANAGEMENT CORPORATION	APPELLANT
vs. MISSISSIPPI TRAN	NSPORTATION COMMISSION	APPELLEE
	APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRENADA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI	
	APPELLEE'S BRIEF	
	ODAL ADCUMENT NOT DEGUESTED	

JAMES T. METZ, MSB #

JOSHUA D. FREEMAN, MSB #

PURDIE & METZ, PLLC

402 Legacy Park, Suite B/39157

Post Office Box 2659

Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158

Telephone: 601-957-1596

Facsimile: 601-957-2449

Attorneys for Appellee

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OND. 2007-CA-01797 GREEN REALTY MANAGEMENT CORPORATION APPELLANT VS. MISSISSIPPI TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION APPELLEE

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

VIII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

GRM's argument that MTC can be guilty of negligence or fraud is not a issue in the appeal. The trial court did not grant summary judgment because MTC could not be responsible for its employee's conduct. Summary judgment was granted because GRM did not respond with a genuine issue of material fact that would prevent summary judgment on its claims.

GRM contends that MTC did not follow Miss. Code Ann. § 43-37-(3) by providing a written statement which separately addresses foreseeable damages to remaining property.

Contrary to this argument, MTC submitted a "fair market value" offer which stated that it included "all damages". The statute requires, "Where appropriate the just compensation for the real property acquired and for damages to remaining real property shall be separately stated.

Obviously, MTC does not think their hydraulics will cause any damage to any remainder; thus, there was no failure to follow the statute. The release in the statutory offer is clear and unambiguous and states that the consideration includes all damages.

GRM's claim that it understood that no part of the proposed payment was for "damages" to the remaining property is without merit. The only damage possible to GRM after the conveyance would be to land it owned after the conveyance.

The facts do not support a claim of ambiguity of the language in the release. The release stated, "all damages on account of the construction of the proposed highway, change of grade, water damage, and/or any other damage, right or claim whatsoever". It is hard to imagine any release that would be any more straight forward.

"The question of law/question of fact dichotomy requires a two-step inquiry in contract

law." Royer Homes of Mississippi v. Chandeleur Homes, Inc., 857 So.2d 748, 751 (Miss. 2003). "First of all, it is a question of law for the court to determine whether a contract is ambiguous, and, if not, enforce the contract as written." Id. Contracts are solemn obligations and the Court must give them effect as they are written. Koury v. Ready, 911 So.2d 441, 446 (Miss. 2005).

The trial court accepted its responsibility and properly determined that the contract was not ambiguous and the release was binding.

The claims of fraud and misrepresentation were not supported by the facts. The first element necessary to prove fraud and/or misrepresentation, is to prove a misrepresentation. Mr. Green testified that it was after the releases were signed that he asked and was given the plans for hydraulics. MTC did not make any representation as to hydraulics because there were no inquiries: thus, the trial court properly granted summary judgment on those theories of recovery.

Appellant argues that a full understanding is an issue of material fact precluding summary judgment. The release clearly stated that it was a release of a multitude of possible damages including all damages on account of construction, including water damage. GRM does not state for the Court the confusing language, simply because the language is exceedingly clear. Further, the argument is not plausible considering its grantor is an attorney, contractor, and businessman.

GRM alleges that the release was not freely and voluntarily given. In support of its argument, GRM relies on <u>Smith v. Sneed</u>, 638 So.2d 1252 (Miss. 1994). Reliance on this case is misplaced, since Mr. Smith was in prison and signed a release agreeing not to sue his attorney in order to secure his release from prison. Mr. Green could have refused to sign the release and

simply walked away. Alternatively, as stated by the trial court, he had three options: a) take the initial offer; b) negotiate a better deal; or c) proceed to Court. GRM took the original offer and granted MTC a release which was binding.

In order to survive summary judgment, GRM was required to demonstrate a genuine issue of a material fact. Appellant, at best, showed a genuine issue of a fact; however, it failed to show a material fact of which resolution at trial would result in a judgment in it's favor. The failure to show a genuine issue of material fact properly resulted in summary judgment in favor of MTC.

IX.

ARGUMENT

1. Response to the allegation that the Green Affidavit did not establish for purposes of MTC'S Motion for Summary Judgment (a) that MTC's agents, whether negligently or intentionally, provided a plat which misrepresented the nature of the road project and misled Mr. Green concerning foreseeable damages on neighboring tracts owned by GRM; or (b) that MTC's agents omitted, suppressed, or concealed a material fact which they were required to disclose, resulting in fraud in the purchase transaction.

The appellant contents that the trial court granted summary judgment on the theory that the releases signed by John Green are not subject to defenses of intentional or negligent misrepresentation. (Appellant's brief, p. 9). Contrary to the contention of appellant, the court found that (1) specifications showing alterations to water flow were on file and subject to inspection by any interested party; (2) the parties agreed that the specifications were not altered after the conveyance from Green; (3) the parties agreed that the construction was performed according to the specifications; (4) MTC did what it said it would do so there was no misrepresentation; and (5) appellant failed to respond to the motion for summary judgment with specific facts that establish any fraud or misrepresentation by MTC that would prevent summary judgment. (R. 470-474; appellant R.E. tab 12).

Remarkably, GRM argues that MTC is responsible for the misconduct of its agents. GRM argues with supporting case law that MTC can be guilty of negligence and fraud based on the actions of its employees.

Apparently, GRM is arguing an issue in which the trial court does not necessarily disagree. The trial court did not rule that MTC cannot be guilty of negligence or fraud based on

the actions of its employees. The parties can save that argument for another day.

The court found that MTC did what it said it would do; thus, there was no misrepresentation. Further, GRM failed to respond to the motion for summary judgment with specific facts that establish any fraud or misrepresentation by MTC that would prevent summary judgment.

GRM's argument is misplaced; the court did not say that MTC could not be guilty of negligence or fraud. The trial court found that Appellant did not show any facts that would support misrepresentation or fraud.

As explained by the Court of Appeals citing McMillan v. Rodriguez, 823 So. 2d 1173, 1177(¶ 9) (Miss. 2002), "If, after examining all evidentiary matters within the record in a light most favorable to the non-movant, no genuine issue of material fact exists, then summary judgment is proper." Nelson v. Sanderson Farms, Inc. 969 So. 2d 45, ¶ 6, (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). However, summary judgment should not be granted when a complete presentation of the evidence would lead to a triable issue. Hall v. Cagle, 773 So.2d 928 (Miss. 2000) (citing Great Southern [National] Bank v. Minter, 590 So.2d 129, 135 (Miss.1991)).

Obviously, when faced with a motion for summary judgment, the trial court must determine the existence of a triable issue. If applying the law to the facts, no triable issue exists, then summary judgment is appropriate.

GRM argues that it had a right to rely on representations made by MTC to procure the contract for the sale of the property and had no duty or obligation to make any further investigation to see whether the representations made were true. (Appellant's brief, p.10). In support of its argument, GRM contends that MTC's negotiators are required by statute to provide

a written statement ("fair market value" offers) which separately addresses foreseeable damages to remaining property. Appellant relies on Miss. Code Ann. §43-37-3 (c) in support of its position.

The pertinent part of Miss. Code Ann. §43-37-3 (c) states:

The owner of the real property to be acquired shall be provided with a written statement of, and summary of the basis for, the amount established as just compensation. Where appropriate the just compensation for the real property acquired and for damages to remaining real property shall be separately stated. (Emphasis added)

GRM, in making it's argument, conveniently ignores the term "where appropriate". The answer is obvious, MTC did not and does not acknowledge any damage to any remainder. Stated another way, damages to remaining property are not appropriate; thus, MTC did not violate the statute.

In support of its position, Green Realty relies on MTC's "Fair Market Value Offer". (R. 280-288, appellant R.E. tab 5 and 6). The Offer clearly states as follows:

The value of the real property interests being acquired is based on the fair market value of the property and is not less than the approved appraised value/value determination disregarding any decrease or increase in the fair market value caused by the project. The fair market value offer includes all damages and is based on our approved appraisal/value determination in the amount of \$8,595.00. (emphasis added)

As is evident, the "Fair Market Value Offer" states that the offer includes all damages.

This statement, obviously, does not support GRM's claim of fraud in consummating the transaction.

As further evidence that the MTC employees did not commit fraud, one need only look closer at the offer. The offer identifies the real property and interests being acquired by attachment. The attachment (proposed deed) to the offer identifies the property by "metes" and

"bounds" and states a further understanding.

The attachment to the "Fair Market Value Offer" states:

It is further understood and agreed that the consideration herein named is in full, complete and final payment and settlement of any claims or demands for damage accrued, accruing, or to accrue to the grantors herein, their heirs, assigns, or legal representatives, for or on account of the construction of the proposed highway, change of grade, water damage, and/or any other damage, right or claim what soever. (Emphasis added).

The attachment to the "Fair Market Value Offer" of which appellant complains of fraud, is a copy of the same deed that was ultimately signed. MTC is clear about what it is buying and specifically states all damages including water damage. (R. 280-288, appellant R.E. tab 5 and 6).

GRM appears to complain that MTC negotiators are required to separately address foreseeable damages to remaining property. (Appellant's brief, p.11). Once again, one need only to look at the "Fair Market Value Offer". The offer lists consideration under Land Value and under damages states N/A. A simple reading of the offer shows that MTC takes the position that there are no damages to the remainder; however, if there are damages, they are included in the compensation. The offer's attachment specifically states all damages including water damage. The documents do not support the appellant's position. In fact, the documentation supports the trial court's decision granting summary judgment.

As stated by the trial court in its order, "In the present case, Green had three options: a) take the initial offer; b) negotiate a better deal; or c) proceed to Court." (R. 472, appellant R.E. tab 12). Indeed, no one knew his rights better than Mr. Green. Mr. Green is a stockholder of the corporation and an attorney. (R. Vol. 5, p.61).

The property conveyed by warranty deed to MTC from GRM and West Grenada

Industrial Park Company, LLC was a part of the tract of land that is described in the complaint.

(R. 183). Stated a different way, the land subject to this action is a remainder interest of the land conveyed to MTC.

Mr. Green admits that he did notice that both of the deeds contained a "release clause". In explanation, he states that he thought that the release clauses only applied to the property being sought by the state. He further states that he was never told otherwise by anyone involved. (R. 219, appellant R.E. tab 11).

It is elementary that MTC would not negotiate a release of all damages, including water damage, for the property it was purchasing. Indeed, the warranty deed containing the release conveyed the property to the MTC. An entity does not need a release from possible damages that it might inflict on its own property.

Appellant states that he understood that no part of the proposed payment was for "damages" to the GRM land remaining after the taking. (R. 219, Appellant R.E. tab 11). Obviously, the only damage possible to GRM would be to land it owned after the taking.

Damage to the property taken under the deed would be damage to property owned by MTC.

Appellant complains that the "Fair Market Value Offer" stated consideration for land value and has no amount for damages. However, he overlooks the clause in the offer that states, "This fair market value offer includes all damages. . .". (R. 280-288, appellant R.E. tab 5 and 6). Further, the resulting deed specifically states payment is for all damages on account of construction, including water damage.

In support of its position, Green Realty relies on <u>Holman v. Howard Wilson Chrysler</u>

<u>Jeep, Inc.</u>, 972 So.2d 564, 568, ¶ 9 (Miss. 2008). The Court states:

The duty to disclose is based upon a theory of fraud that recognizes

that the failure of a party to a business transaction to speak may amount to the suppression of a material fact which should have been disclosed and is, in effect, fraud. *Welsh v. Mounger*, 883 So.2d 46, 49 (Miss.2004) (discussing *Guastella v. Wardell*, 198 So.2d 227 (Miss. 1967)). According to the Restatement (2d) of Torts:

- 3(2) One party to a business transaction is under a duty to exercise reasonable care to disclose to the other before the transaction is consummated...
 - (b) matters known to him that he knows to be necessary to prevent his partial or ambiguous statement of the facts from being misleading...
 - (d) the falsity of a representation not made with the expectation that it would be acted upon, if he subsequently learns that the other is about to act in reliance upon it in a transaction with him; and
 - (e) facts basic to the transaction, if he knows that the other is about to enter into it under a mistake as to them, and that the other, because of the relationship between them, the customs of the trade or other objective circumstances, would reasonably expect a disclosure of those facts.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 551 (1977). See also *Welsh*, 883 So.2d at 50 (discussing *Guastella*, 198 So.2d 227, and Restatement (Second) of Torts § 551).

Appellant's reliance on <u>Holman</u> is misplaced. In <u>Holman</u>, a buyer purchased a vehicle as a new vehicle, when in fact it was a demonstrator that had been in a wreck. The fact that the vehicle had been in a wreck was not common knowledge or public record; thus, it was concealed.

GRM attempts to show fraud through the Affidavit of John Green. He states as follows:

- 1) I was not given either actual or constructive notice by MTC that the state agency has such intentions.
- 2) No representations as to the intentions of MTC to place a 32 by 6 foot box culvert were made by MTC to me, GRM, or WGIP prior to the conveyances.
- 3) I, GRM, or WGIP did not have access to any other source or sources of information as to the intentions of MTC to create a 32 by 6 foot box culvert prior to the conveyance.
- 4) Because neither I, GRM or WGIP was provided the facts as to the intentions of MTC to alter the drainage as it did, the so-called release contained in the deeds as

construed by the MTC and as described herein was not entered into freely and voluntarily.

(R. 218-24, Appellant R.E. tab 11).

It is apparent that the intention of the affidavit is to lift the burden to make inquiry to the specifics of the plans from GRM and shift it to MTC.

The law does not support GRM's position. The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated on several occasions that contract language, when unambiguous, will be upheld. "The question of law/question of fact dichotomy requires a two-step inquiry in contract law. Royer Homes of Mississippi v. Chandeleur Homes, Inc., 857 So.2d 748, 751 (Miss. 2003). "First of all, it is question of law for the court to determine whether a contract is ambiguous, and, if not, enforce the contract as written." Id. Contracts are solemn obligations and the Court must give them effect as they are written. Koury v. Ready, 911 So.2d 441, 446 (Miss. 2005).

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